



**BAPTIST
WORLD
ALLIANCE**

2020-2025 LEADERSHIP ORIENTATION RESOURCES

**NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY
TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST**



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

COMMISSION CHAIRS AND VICE CHAIRS, 2020 - 2025

ORIENTATION KIT

Table of Contents

WELCOME LETTER FROM THE GENERAL SECRETARY/CEO.....	2
GREETINGS FROM THE BWA PRESIDENT.....	3
BRIEF HISTORY OF THE BAPTIST WORLD ALLIANCE.....	4
CONSTITUTION OF THE BAPTIST WORLD ALLIANCE.....	6
BYLAWS OF THE BAPTIST WORLD ALLIANCE.....	12
BWA CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR COVENANT	31
BWA ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE	32
BWA MINISTRY AND PROGRAM STRUCTURE.....	34
COMMISSION DESCRIPTIONS.....	39
COMMISSION ORIENTATION SCHEDULE, 2020 – 2025	44



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

WELCOME LETTER FROM THE GENERAL SECRETARY/CEO

Dear Commission Leader,

It gives me great pleasure to welcome you to the leadership of one of the commissions of the Baptist World Alliance. You have come to this position at a time of challenges resulting from the global pandemic. Therefore, it will require your creative energies, ingenuity, and innovative abilities to navigate the choppy waters, so that together we can execute the core priorities of the global Baptist family during this quinquennium.

The BWA is mindful of the spinoffs from the pandemic that have aggravated existing undesirable economic conditions in some regions, plunging some into further despair and disillusionment. Compounding these distressing realities are the disconcerting trends of racial injustice, religious persecution, internal conflicts and injustices in parts of the global community. The vulnerability of some regions to natural disasters cannot be overlooked, neither can political instability nor upheavals.

As we embark upon this new quinquennium with all its challenges, the BWA welcomes your collaboration in developing appropriate responses through the commissions and committees. These are exciting times pregnant with opportunities for mission enlargement and consolidation. The onus is on us to keep hope alive as we fulfill our priestly functions and execute our prophetic responsibilities in a world groaning for restoration. You have indeed come to the kingdom for such a time as this.

Once again, welcome and I look forward to an enriching time of partnership as together we serve the global Baptist family, a network of 47 million Baptists in 169,000 churches united in a mission to impact the world for Christ.

Regards,

Elijah Brown
General Secretary & CEO
Baptist World Alliance



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

GREETINGS FROM THE BWA PRESIDENT

Dear Commission Leader,

Thank you for your willingness to serve as leaders of BWA commissions for the 2020-2025 Quinquennium.

To serve in the BWA is to serve in a family of 47 million people in 126 countries. This requires asking the Lord for a broad mindset that can be summed up in the expression, *“together in diversity.”* Ours is a body with all the flavors from around the world, which at the same time are useful to local churches anywhere. We want to work with humbleness and deploying all our capacity, while at the same time accepting that we are always in a learning process. We are disciples, and disciples are those who learn. We want to work in love, justice, and holiness.

We are thankful for the team we have, led by our General Secretary, Elijah Brown, and all staff and officers. I specially thank our new Director of Integral Mission, Everton Jackson for his leadership so far in this process.

I hope that we will be able to enhance resources and overcome crises by using them as a *“kairos,”* - an opportunity to serve the Lord and impact the world for Christ.

We love our BWA family with its history of more than 100 years which we value. At the same time, we keep looking forward to the challenges the Lord presents us today and for the future.

I am thrilled as we begin to work together in this new quinquennium. Please count on my prayers as I count on yours.

In the fellowship of His Service,

Tomás Mackey
President
Baptist World Alliance



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

A BRIEF HISTORY

John Newton Prestridge, editor of *The Baptist Argus*, at Louisville, Kentucky, in his publication in 1904, called for a world gathering of Baptists. John Howard Shakespeare, editor of *The Baptist Times and Freeman*, London, endorsed the proposal. In October 1904, the Baptist Union of Great Britain passed a resolution to invite a Congress to meet with them in July 1905. At the Congress, a committee was formed, which proposed a Constitution for a World Alliance. A Constitution was adopted, containing the following preamble:

“Whereas, in the providence of God, the time has come when it seems fitting more fully to manifest the essential oneness in the Lord Jesus Christ as their God and Saviour of the Churches of the Baptist order and faith throughout the world, and to promote the spirit of fellowship, service and co-operation among them, while recognizing the independence of each particular church and not assuming the functions of any existing organization, it is agreed to form a Baptist World Alliance, extending over every part of the world.”

Membership was opened to “Any general Union, Convention or Association of Baptist Churches...” and it was decided that the Alliance would “...meet in general assembly ordinarily once in five years, unless otherwise determined by the Executive Committee...” Three leading personalities involved in the organization included Prestridge, Shakespeare and Alexander MacLaren (who served as provisional President).

The Inaugural Meeting of the first Baptist World Congress was held at Exeter Hall on Tuesday, July 11, 1905. His Honour Judge Willis, K.C., President of the Baptist Union of Great Britain and Ireland, occupied the chair, and the hall was crowded with the delegates, numbering nearly 3,000.

The meeting opened with the hymn –
*“From distance climes, from every land,
Behold us, Lord, before Thee stand.”*

The quinquennial global gatherings of the Alliance have continued for more than a century. World conflicts made it impossible to hold to a strict five-year plan, but BWA has held 21



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Congresses: London, 1905; Philadelphia, 1911; Stockholm, 1923; Toronto, 1928; Berlin, 1934; Atlanta, 1939; Copenhagen, 1947; Cleveland, 1950; London, 1955; Rio de Janeiro, 1960; Miami Beach, 1965; Tokyo, 1970; Stockholm, 1975; Toronto, 1980; Los Angeles, 1985; Seoul, 1990; Buenos Aires, 1995; Melbourne, 2000; Birmingham, England, 2005; Honolulu, 2010; Durban, 2015.

For more than 100 years, the Baptist World Alliance has networked the Baptist family to impact the world for Christ with a commitment to strengthen worship, fellowship and unity; lead in mission and evangelism; respond to people in need through aid, relief, and community development; defend religious freedom, human rights, and justice; and advance theological reflection and leadership development.

A fellowship of 241 conventions and unions in 126 countries and territories comprised of 47 million baptized believers in 169,000 churches, the BWA is a ministry with a storied history and a strategic future.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

**CONSTITUTION OF THE BAPTIST WORLD ALLIANCE
AS AMENDED BY THE GENERAL COUNCIL**

JULY 2020

PREAMBLE

The Baptist World Alliance, extending over every part of the world, exists as an expression of the essential oneness of Baptist people in the Lord Jesus Christ, to impart inspiration to the fellowship, and to provide channels for sharing concerns and skills in witness and ministry. This Alliance recognizes the traditional autonomy and interdependence of Baptist churches and member bodies.

I. NAME

This organization shall be known as the Baptist World Alliance, hereinafter referred to as "the Alliance."

II. OBJECTIVES

Under the guidance of the Holy Spirit, the objectives of the Alliance shall be:

1. To promote Christian fellowship and cooperation among Baptists throughout the world.
2. To bear witness to the gospel of Jesus Christ and assist member bodies in their divine task of bringing all people to God through Jesus Christ as Savior and Lord.
3. To promote understanding and cooperation among Baptist bodies and with other Christian groups, in keeping with our unity in Christ.
4. To act as an agency for the expression of Biblical faith and historically distinctive Baptist principles and practices.
5. To act as an agency of reconciliation seeking peace for all persons, and uphold the claims of fundamental human rights, including full religious liberty.
6. To serve as a channel for expressing Christian social concern and alleviating human need.
7. To serve in cooperation with member bodies as a resource for the development of plans for evangelism, education, church growth, and other forms of mission.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

8. To provide channels of communication dealing with work related to these objectives through all possible media.

III. METHOD OF OPERATIONS

The Alliance shall operate throughout the world through:

1. The Baptist World Congress
2. The General Council
3. The Executive Committee
4. Its Officers
5. Such committees and organizational structures as are provided for in the Bylaws or as authorized by the General Council
6. Regional Fellowships or Federations

IV. MEMBERSHIP

1. An organized Baptist body such as a union or convention which desires to cooperate in the work of the Alliance shall be eligible for membership, subject to the approval of the General Council. In accepting membership in the Alliance, the member body thereby assumes responsibility for assisting in the support and furtherance of the purposes and work of the Alliance.
2. ASSOCIATE MEMBERSHIP: The intention of Associate Membership is to involve organized Baptist groups in the global ministry of the Baptist World Alliance through prayer, the sharing of resources and participation in the meetings, congresses and conferences of the Baptist World Alliance. The ministry of organized Baptist bodies and the Alliance are all strengthened through this intentional partnership.
3. PERSONAL MEMBERSHIP: The intention of Personal Membership is to involve Baptists in the global ministry of the Baptist World Alliance through prayer, the sharing of resources and participation in the meetings, congresses and conferences of the Baptist World Alliance. The ministry of individuals and the Alliance are both strengthened through this intentional partnership.

V. BAPTIST WORLD CONGRESS

1. The Alliance shall normally assemble in a Baptist World Congress once in five years for the purpose of fellowship, inspiration, information, enrichment, encouragement, and required business.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

2. The Congress shall be comprised of members of churches which belong to a member body of the Alliance.

VI. GENERAL COUNCIL

The General Council shall comprise:

1. (a) The President, the Vice-Presidents, the General Secretary and the Treasurer;
- (b) Members nominated by member bodies and seated by the General Council, vacancies to be filled by the General Council on nomination of the member body concerned. The number of places to be allocated to each member body shall be determined in accordance with the Bylaws: provided that each member body shall be entitled to at least one place, and no member body shall have more than ten percent of the total membership of the Council.
- (c) The presiding officer and one additional representative of each Auxiliary and the Youth Department, and six ex-officio members representing the Auxiliaries and the Youth Department or equivalent entity in the regions nominated by the governing body of each Auxiliary and the Youth Department, and seated by the General Council. Vacancies are to be filled by the General Council on nomination of the Auxiliary concerned and the Youth Department.
- (d) The chair of the BWA program divisions: Freedom and Justice; Mission, Evangelism and Theological Reflection (METR); BWAid; Communication; Promotion & Development and other divisions as shall be determined from time to time.
- (e) The chair of standing committees.
- (f) The presiding officer of each Regional Fellowship.
- (g) The Regional Secretary of each Regional Fellowship or Federation.
2. Not more than twelve additional members, any of whom may be co-opted by the General Council at any time, to serve until the conclusion of the next Baptist World



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Congress. In making such co-options, the General Council shall give consideration to, but not be limited to, representation of the committees and organizational structures which assist the Alliance in the work.

3. Past Presidents and Past General Secretaries, who shall be life members.

VII. FUNCTIONS OF THE GENERAL COUNCIL

The General Council is served by the General Secretary as Chief Executive Officer. The Council expresses representative responsibility, conducts Alliance business, acts as a general forum, and undertakes such activities as those pertaining to the Constitution, Bylaws, Elections, Executive Staff, Policy, Program, Finance, Resolutions, Relationships, Research and History.

The General Council shall:

1. Transact the business of the Alliance between Baptist World Congresses and supervise the administration of any undertaking of the Alliance.
2. Appoint an Executive Committee as indicated in Article VIII below, and authorize such organizational structures and committees as it may deem necessary and determine their duties.
3. Arrange local, regional, continental, or other conferences as may be considered desirable.
4. Fill vacancies as provided in Article X of the Constitution.
5. Determine the time and place of the Baptist World Congress, and be responsible for all necessary arrangements, including the preparation of the program.
6. Elect the General Secretary, whose election is with anticipation of service until the conclusion of the ensuing Baptist World Congress and may be re-elected.

VIII. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

There shall be an Executive appointed by the General Council from its membership.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

The Executive Committee shall be comprised as follows: the President, the First Vice-President, the Vice-Presidents, the General Secretary, the Treasurer, the Immediate Past President, the President of the BWA Women’s Auxiliary, the President of the BWA Youth Department, a representative of each BWA region appointed by that region and 12 at large representatives elected by the General Council from names submitted through the Nominations Committee with a desire to ensure an Executive Committee gifted in membership, global in representation and holistic in terms of female and male, young and old.

The Executive Committee at large representatives will be elected four each year for three-year terms which are renewable. The Executive Committee will elect a Chairperson from its number to chair the meetings. The General Secretary reports to the Executive Committee. No member of the BWA staff may serve as a voting member of the Executive Committee except the General Secretary.

In special circumstances, the President, in consultation with the General Secretary, may appoint up to three additional individuals to serve on both the General Council and the Executive Committee. Such appointees shall be presented for ratification at the subsequent General Council meeting and shall serve for a term of three years, renewable for a second three-year term.

IX. FUNCTIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Subject to the authority reserved to the General Council in accordance with Article VII of this Constitution and applicable laws, the business, property, affairs and funds of the Alliance shall be managed, supervised and controlled by the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall fulfill its oversight responsibilities in furtherance of the purposes and objectives of the Alliance and shall provide regular reports to the General Council regarding its deliberations and actions.

In the event of the BWA General Secretary post becoming vacant, the Executive Committee, in consultation with the Chair of the Human Resources Committee, shall be responsible for appointing a search committee who shall make a recommendation for appointment to the General Council.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

X. OFFICERS

The Officers of the Alliance shall be the President, the First Vice-President, up to fourteen Vice-Presidents, the General Secretary and the Treasurer.

The General Council, upon recommendation by the Nominations Committee, shall elect the President, the First Vice President, the Vice-Presidents, and the Treasurer whose terms of office shall be from the conclusion of one Baptist World Congress until the conclusion of the next. The President, First Vice-President and Vice-Presidents shall be presented to the BWA Congress.

The General Council shall elect the General Secretary.

If an officer should die, resign, or become incapable of acting, the General Council shall fill the vacancy and that officer shall serve until the conclusion of the next Baptist World Congress. The Executive Committee shall be empowered to make an interim "Acting" appointment if the time delay before the next General Council is deemed to be too long.

XI. REGIONAL FELLOWSHIPS or FEDERATIONS

1. A Regional Fellowship or Federation recognized by the Alliance shall be an association of organized autonomous Baptist bodies such as unions and conventions within a defined geographical area.

XII. AMENDMENTS

1. Amendments to the Constitution may be made by the General Council.
2. No change shall be made in this Constitution except by a two-thirds majority of General Council members present and voting and shall require a year's Notice of Motion.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

**BYLAWS OF THE BAPTIST WORLD ALLIANCE
AS AMENDED BY THE GENERAL COUNCIL**

JULY 2020

ARTICLE I

MEMBERSHIP

1. FULL MEMBERSHIP

- a. A Baptist body applying for membership in the Baptist World Alliance (hereinafter the "BWA") shall authorize its applications for membership through its own due process and shall, either directly or through its officers or duly empowered committee, subscribe to the objectives and financial support of the BWA as set forth in the Constitution and Bylaws of the BWA.
- b. Each Baptist body which is accorded full membership (hereafter "Member Body") shall have an identity of its own and shall not exist as an integral part of some other union or convention.
- c. The BWA Executive Committee shall, from time to time, determine the criteria and/or guidelines for membership, which the Membership Committee shall use to evaluate an application for membership submitted by a Member Body. Applications which are determined to meet membership requirements will be recommended by the Membership Committee to the Executive Committee for its action and recommendation to the General Council for approval.
- d. Every Member Body shall assume responsibility, in its own sphere of influence, for the promotion of the BWA programs consistent with its own work.
- e. Every Member Body shall assume a fair and reasonable share of financial support for the general work and programs of the BWA. In currency-controlled countries, money spent in behalf of the BWA programs within the currency controlled area may be regarded as a contribution towards the Member Body's financial responsibilities to the BWA.
- f. In order that the BWA may share information, each Member Body shall report to the BWA annual statistics on the number of churches and persons in its membership, based on careful reports or surveys of that membership. Further,



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

the Member Body should report regularly to its constituency through its own publications and annual meetings on the ministry of the BWA.

2. ASSOCIATE MEMBERSHIP

- a. Organized Baptist groups (e.g. colleges, universities, seminaries, mission organizations, state, regional or associational divisions of member or non-member Baptist bodies, historical societies, etc.) may be admitted as an Associate Member of the BWA.
- b. Associate Members of the BWA will demonstrate their support by paying an appropriate annual membership fee as determined by the Executive Committee upon recommendation by the Budget and Finance Committee.
- c. All Associate Membership applications will be reviewed by the Membership Committee and reported to the Executive Committee and the General Council.

3. PERSONAL MEMBERSHIP

- a. Individual Baptists may become personal members of the BWA by paying an appropriate annual membership fee determined by the Executive Committee upon recommendation by the Budget and Finance Committee.
- b. All Personal Membership applications will be reviewed by the Membership Committee and reported to the Executive Committee and to the General Council.

ARTICLE II

GENERAL COUNCIL

1. MEMBERSHIP

- a. Each Member Body shall be entitled to representation on the General Council under clause (1) (b) of Article VI of the Constitution as follows: One representative for each Member Body of up to 40,000 church members; two (2) for each Member Body with 40,000 or more church members, up to 200,000; three (3) for each Member Body with 200,000 or more church members, up to 1,000,000; and four (4) for Member Bodies with over 1,000,000 church members.
- b. Member Bodies of 5,000,000 and more members may appoint one (1) additional member for each full million above that number.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

- c. Member Bodies are encouraged to include laypersons, women, men, and youth, in the appointments listed above.
- d. Additionally, Member Bodies appointing two (2) members of Council may appoint a third, provided that the third person is a female, a layperson, or a youth (under 35 years of age at the time of the appointment).
- e. Member Bodies appointing three (3) members to the Council may appoint two additional members, provided they represent two of the three groups mentioned.
- f. Member Bodies appointing four (4) or more members to the Council may appoint three more, provided they represent each of the three groups mentioned.
- g. An additional ten (10) places in total shall be allocated among Member Bodies of fewer than five million members, taking into account their interest in and support of the BWA. Such allocations shall be made by the Executive Committee and approved by the General Council in sufficient time to permit the Member Bodies to nominate their representatives prior to the beginning of the term of office.
- h. Three (3) at-large members shall be co-opted to serve on the General Council to represent all institutions and individuals that have been accepted as Associate and Personal members. These at-large members shall be nominated by the Nominations Committee and elected by the General Council.
- i. The General Secretary shall serve as an ex-officio voting member of the General Council and all Committees of the General Council. No other member of the BWA staff, whether based in the BWA offices or in the regions, may serve as a member of the General Council or its Committees.
- j. The President shall serve as an ex-officio voting member of the General Council and all Committees of the General Council.

2. MEETINGS

Normally the General Council meets once a year upon the call of the General Secretary. A meeting may also be called upon the written request of fifteen of its members delivered to the President and /or the General Secretary. Written notice of any meeting shall be communicated to every member of the General Council at least three months before the proposed meeting date.

3. QUORUM



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Fifty (50) members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business provided that at least fifteen (15) Member Bodies are represented.

4. MANNER OF ACTING

Unless otherwise provided by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, if a quorum is present at a meeting of the Council, the affirmative vote of a majority of the Council shall be the act of the Council.

5. PROXIES

A Member Body, a Regional Fellowship or Federation, or an Auxiliary of the BWA may appoint a proxy for a General Council member who is unable to represent it at a meeting of the Council. Notice of an appointment of proxy shall be delivered to the General Secretary in writing at least one month prior to the General Council meeting. Such proxies have the right to vote. Members of the General Council may not serve as proxies.

6. PROCEEDINGS

- a. Persons who are not members of the General Council may generally attend open meetings of the General Council, provided that only members of the General Council may participate in discussion, unless a non-member is requested by the President to participate in the meeting. The President may designate certain meetings "closed" to non-Council members.
- b. General Council debate on resolutions coming from the Resolutions Committee shall follow guidelines developed by the Resolutions Committee and approved by the General Council. All such resolutions shall require the affirmative vote of a $\frac{3}{4}$ majority of Council members present and voting for adoption.

ARTICLE III

COMMITTEES OF THE GENERAL COUNCIL

1. COMMITTEES GENERALLY

The General Council will determine the authority and responsibility of each Committee of the General Council as set forth in a Committee Charter developed by the Executive Committee and approved by the General Council.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

2. NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

- a. The Nominations Committee will assist the General Council and the Executive Committee by generating, receiving, reviewing and recommending names of persons eligible and willing to serve as officers, Executive Committee members and core members of Commissions as referenced in Article VII of these Bylaws. Nominations of appropriate persons to serve on these bodies will be subject to appointment by the General Council or Executive Committee in accordance with these Bylaws, Committee Charters and any other guidelines developed by the Executive Committee. Persons appointed will generally serve for a Quinquennium.
- b. A key purpose of the Nominations Committee will be to ensure that the global reality of the BWA is represented on its Executive Committee and Commissions, and that the search for suitable qualified candidates will be as wide and as comprehensive as possible.
- c. The membership of the Nominations Committee shall include: the President, the President-Elect (once agreed by General Council) and the General Secretary, each of whom shall serve as ex officio voting members, three (3) members appointed by the General Council for the Quinquennium, and two (2) members nominated by the regional Council or any executive committee from each region. These persons shall not be members of the BWA staff.
- d. The Committee shall appoint a chair from among its members. It meets upon the call of the General Secretary.

3. RESOLUTIONS COMMITTEE

- a. The Resolutions Committee will assist the General Council by bringing resolutions to the General Council for consideration. The Committee shall be appointed by the General Council from recommendations submitted by the Nominations Committee. The Committee shall have not less than six and not more than twelve members.
- b. All resolutions which BWA members wish to be considered by the General Council must be proposed to the Resolutions Committee.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

ARTICLE IV

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

1. GENERAL POWERS

- a. Subject to the authority reserved to the General Council in accordance with Article VII of the Constitution, and consistent with the functions of the Executive Committee set forth in Article IX of the Constitution, and applicable laws, the business, property, affairs and funds of the BWA shall be managed, supervised and controlled by the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall fulfill its oversight responsibilities in furtherance of the purposes and objectives of the BWA and shall function as the board of directors under applicable law. To fulfill the Executive Committee's oversight responsibilities, the Executive Committee shall initiate and establish organizational policies governing the operation and management of the BWA, and may appoint one or more committees as set forth in Article V of these Bylaws to assist it in carrying out its governance role.
- b. In furtherance of its general oversight role, the Executive Committee shall be responsible for: (i) overseeing the development and implementation of the overall program of the BWA based on the Clusters of Commitment adopted by the General Council and having regard for the overall direction of the General Council; (ii) receiving and reviewing reports, proposals and recommendations from the General Secretary on the activities and affairs of the BWA and taking action as appropriate; (iii) generally overseeing the financial affairs of the BWA including: securing adequate funds to support the work of the BWA, approval of the annual budget and any subsequent revisions, ensuring financial reporting that meets applicable regulatory requirements, and annually approving the selection of an external auditor; (iv) receiving and reviewing reports and recommendations from Committees of the Executive Committee; and (v) receiving and responding to initiatives and proposals from the auxiliaries.

2. COMPOSITION, APPOINTMENT AND TERMS

- a. The composition of the Executive Committee and provisions regarding appointment and terms of Executive Committee members are set forth in Article VIII of the Constitution. The Executive Committee shall be appointed at the



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

beginning of the Quinquennium. Members serve for the Quinquennium with the exception of those members appointed directly by the General Council who shall be appointed in groups of four for staggered 3 year terms, which terms are renewable. The Committee shall appoint a chair from among its members, who will normally be the President.

- b. Vacancies created during the Quinquennium will be filled at the next General Council meeting.
- c. The General Secretary shall serve as an ex-officio voting member of the Executive Committee and all Committees of the Executive Committee, and shall be the only staff member to serve in such capacity, whether based in the BWA offices or in the regions.
- d. The President shall serve as an ex-officio voting member of the Executive Committee and all Committees of the Executive Committee.

3. MEETINGS

- a. The Executive Committee will meet at least two times annually. Regular Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be held at such time and at such location as determined by the Executive Committee. Special meetings of the Executive Committee may be called by the President or the General Secretary and shall be held at such time and at such location as determined by the President and General Secretary.
- b. The members of the Executive Committee may participate in any meeting of the Executive Committee by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment, provided all persons participating in the meeting can hear and speak to each other. Participation of an Executive Committee member by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment shall constitute presence of the member in person at the meeting.
- c. Written Notice of any Regular meeting shall be communicated to every member of the Executive Committee at least three months before the date of the proposed meeting. Written notice of any Special meeting shall be communicated to every member of the Executive Committee at least five (5) business days before the date of the proposed meeting.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

4. ACTION WITHOUT A MEETING

Any action to be taken at a meeting of the Executive Committee may be taken without a meeting if a consent, in writing, setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all of the Executive Committee members. Such consent shall have the same effect as a unanimous vote. A signed written consent may be accomplished by one or more electronic transmissions.

5. QUORUM

A majority of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Executive Committee.

6. MANNER OF ACTING

Unless otherwise required by law, by the Articles of Incorporation, or by these Bylaws, if a quorum is present at a meeting of the Executive Committee, the affirmative vote of a majority of the Executive Committee present at the meeting shall be the act of the Executive Committee. No Executive Committee member shall act by proxy on any matter.

7. PROCEEDINGS

- a. Persons who are not members of the Executive Committee may generally attend open meetings of the Executive Committee, provided that only members of the Executive Committee may participate in discussion, unless the Committee Chair requests that a non-member participate in the meeting for a specific purpose. Members of the BWA staff may attend at the specific request of the General Secretary.
- b. The Committee Chair shall have the authority to designate certain meetings of the Executive Committee "closed" to non-committee members upon the request of the President, the General Secretary or four members of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee will authorize the General Secretary to make statements to the public on the proceedings of a closed session.

8. REPORTS TO THE GENERAL COUNCIL

The Executive Committee shall provide regular reports to the General Council regarding its deliberations and actions, and on other matters as may be requested by the General Council from time to time.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

ARTICLE V

COMMITTEES OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

1. COMMITTEES GENERALLY

- a. The Executive Committee may establish one or more standing committees as needed or required to assist the Executive Committee in providing governance oversight of the activities and affairs of the BWA. The standing committees shall include, but not be limited to: Budget and Finance, Audit, Human Resources, Membership, Baptist World Congress and Constitution & Bylaws.
- b. Each committee shall consist of at least two (2) members of the Executive Committee and an Executive Committee member will ordinarily chair each committee.

If the Chair is not a member of the Executive Committee, a Vice-Chair shall be appointed by the Executive Committee from amongst the appointed Executive Committee members. The Chair is not expected to attend the Executive Committee but if present the President shall give permission for the Chair to present the report. Otherwise, the Vice-Chair shall present the committee's report.

Committees may include persons other than members of the Executive Committee based on specific skills or expertise helpful to the committee in fulfilling its responsibilities. Committee members will be appointed by the Executive Committee taking into consideration any recommendations from the Nominations Committee.

- c. The Executive Committee will determine the authority and responsibility of each committee as set forth in a Committee Charter developed and approved by the Executive Committee. The Charter will also identify committee size, composition based on identified skills and experience, and frequency of meetings. A record of all committee meetings, including any decisions taken, shall be produced and copies of such record shall be provided to the Executive Committee via the office the General Secretary. In addition, each committee shall present a report covering its deliberations and actions to the Executive Committee at each of its



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

meetings. Each committee will also make recommendations to the Executive Committee on matters requiring Executive Committee approval.

2. LIMITATIONS

No committee appointed by the Executive Committee shall be granted the authority of the Executive Committee to:

- a. Amend, alter, or repeal the BWA Constitution or Bylaws;
- b. Elect, appoint, or remove any member of any committee or officer of the BWA;
- c. Amend the Articles of Incorporation, restate the Articles of Incorporation, adopt a plan of merger or adopt a plan of consolidation with another corporation;
- d. Authorize the sale, lease, exchange or mortgage of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the BWA;
- e. Authorize the voluntary dissolution of the BWA or revoke proceedings therefore;
- f. Adopt a plan for the distribution of the assets of the BWA; or
- g. Amend, alter or repeal any resolution of the Executive Committee which by its terms provides that it shall not be amended, altered or repealed by the committee.

3. BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

The Budget and Finance Committee will assist the Executive Committee in overseeing the financial affairs of the BWA. The committee shall oversee (a) the operating and capital budgets; (b) fiscal and investment policies and performance; (c) other financial planning responsibilities as appropriate.

4. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee will assist the Executive Committee in overseeing audit related matters including the annual external audit of the BWA.

5. HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE

The Human Resources Committee will assist the Executive Committee in overseeing matters relating to human resources. The committee will provide advice and counsel to the Executive Committee on matters relating to personnel and benefits, and oversee the development of



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

appropriate human resources policies and procedures including a comprehensive personnel handbook.

6. MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE

The Membership Committee will assist the Executive Committee in overseeing matters relating to membership of the BWA. The Committee will review applications for membership and associate membership of the BWA, consulting, as appropriate, with the relevant region of the BWA.

7. THE BAPTIST WORLD CONGRESS COMMITTEE

The Baptist World Congress Committee will assist the Executive Committee in overseeing matters relating to the planning and execution of the Baptist World Congresses.

8. CONSTITUTION & BYLAWS COMMITTEE

The Constitution & Bylaws Committee will assist the Executive Committee by bringing proposed changes to the Constitution and Bylaws, such changes to be approved by General Council.

ARTICLE VI

OFFICERS OF THE BWA

1. PRESIDENT

The President of the BWA is appointed for a Quinquennium by the General Council upon nomination from the Nominations Committee. The President is affirmed by the Baptist World Congress. The President will normally preside over the Baptist World Congress and the General Council. In the absence of, or at the discretion of the President, the First Vice-President or one of the Vice-Presidents may be called upon to preside from time to time.

The President is expected to work cooperatively with the General Secretary and the Executive Committee for the effective implementation of the programs of the BWA. The President will perform such tasks as agreed in the Presidential Job Description adopted and revised from time to time by the General Council. The President is not a salaried officer of the BWA.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

2. FIRST VICE PRESIDENT

The First Vice President is elected by the General Council on nomination from the Nominations Committee to serve as a deputy to the President for each Quinquennium. The First Vice President is expected to assist the President and work cooperatively with the General Secretary for the effective implementation of the programs of the BWA through such activities as fraternal counsel, messages, and visits to the constituency. The First Vice President is not a salaried officer of the BWA. Since the first Vice President is not a salaried officer, the BWA shall seek to assist the First Vice President with any necessary expense of specific work assignments from the President and General Secretary to the extent the budget permits. Assurance of reimbursement must be obtained in advance from the General Secretary.

3. VICE PRESIDENTS

Up to fourteen other Vice Presidents are appointed for each Quinquennium by the General Council upon nomination from the Nominations Committee to promote and seek support for the work of the BWA. They are to undergird the Regional Fellowship or Federation in their respective areas and to carry out other responsibilities as requested by the General Council, the Executive Committee, the President, or the General Secretary. Since they are not salaried officers, the BWA shall seek to assist them with any necessary expense of specific work assignments from the President and General Secretary to the extent the budget permits. Assurance of reimbursement must be obtained in advance from the General Secretary. The Vice-Presidents are responsible for encouraging financial support for the BWA from the Member Bodies in their respective areas.

4. GENERAL SECRETARY

The General Secretary shall be the chief executive officer of the BWA. The General Secretary shall be accountable to the Executive Committee and shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the BWA. The General Secretary shall be primarily responsible for achieving the overall objectives of the BWA within the framework of policies and objectives approved by the Executive Committee, and within the delegated authority and responsibilities set forth in a job description developed and approved by the Executive Committee and confirmed by the General Council. The General Secretary shall be responsible for staff appointments.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

5. TREASURER

The Treasurer shall assist the General Secretary in overseeing the financial affairs of the BWA and causing to be kept and maintained adequate and comprehensive books and records of the assets and finances of the BWA. The Treasurer shall be a member of the Executive Committee. The Treasurer shall chair the Budget and Finance Committee of the Executive Committee. The Treasurer is not a salaried officer of the BWA.

ARTICLE VII

PATTERN OF WORK OF THE BWA

1. CLUSTERS OF COMMITMENT

Consistent with the main divisions of work adopted from time to time by the General Council, the Executive Committee shall establish and oversee the pattern of work of the BWA, including the approval of executive staff positions necessary and appropriate to support such programs.

2. COMMISSIONS

Commissions and Committees may be established from time to time by the Executive Committee, drawing together appropriate persons from Member Bodies to serve in reflection, study and, where appropriate, action. The Nominations Committee will receive, review and recommend persons to the General Council to serve as core members on such Commissions and Committees. The scope of work and responsibilities of each Commission or Committee will be set forth in a charter approved by the Executive Committee.

Additional Commission members may be added from time to time through consultation between Commission Chairs, BWA President and General Secretary, and where appropriate the Member Body.

ARTICLE VIII

REGIONAL FELLOWSHIPS OR FEDERATIONS



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

- **PURPOSE**

- a. The Regional Fellowships or Federations (hereinafter Regions) shall reflect the objectives of the BWA in their geographical regions and as such shall primarily be expressions of the BWA.
- b. The respective Member Bodies may have direct membership in both the BWA and the Region. Membership in a region does not in any way limit the direct relationship with the BWA.
- c. Regions shall normally be organized on a continental basis.
- d. Regions should demonstrate continuing progress toward self-support.

- **RELATIONSHIPS**

The BWA currently recognizes the following Regional Fellowships and Federations: All Africa Baptist Fellowship; Asia Pacific Baptist Federation; Caribbean Baptist Fellowship; European Baptist Federation; North American Baptist Fellowship; Union of Baptists of Latin America.

- a. Each Member Body of the BWA is encouraged to affiliate with a Regional Fellowship or Federation. Upon approval of the BWA Executive Committee, a Member Body may be dually aligned with its own Regional Fellowship and one additional Fellowship for cultural and language reasons.
- b. Each Region shall encourage all its member bodies to seek membership in the BWA. Prior to acceptance of new members, the BWA will consult with both the appropriate Region and the appropriate member body.
- c. The General Council shall authorize the Region and agree on boundaries between the regions in consultation with the relevant regions.
- d. The Regions shall be fully integrated into the life and structure of the BWA, but will elect their own officers and determine their own functions within the framework and policy of the BWA.

- **BWA OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE STAFF**

- a. The President of the BWA shall receive a standing invitation to attend the Council and Executive Committee of each regional fellowship.
- b. The General Secretary of the BWA shall receive a standing invitation to attend the Council and Executive Committee of each regional fellowship.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

- **BWA REGIONAL SECRETARIES**

- a. The BWA General Secretary may be invited to nominate one person to serve on the appointment committee for the executive officer of a region who, by virtue of office, shall also serve as BWA regional secretary. As soon as possible after taking up the role, but normally within one year, the BWA Executive Committee, on the recommendation of the BWA General Secretary and President, shall formally ratify the executive officer of the region to the role of BWA regional secretary.
- b. Regional secretaries will be responsible to their respective Region for the administration of its affairs, and to the General Secretary of the BWA as regional secretaries of the BWA.
- c. The term of service as BWA regional secretary shall coincide with service as executive officer of the Region.
- d. Each Region in appraising the work of its executive officer/regional secretary shall do so in consultation with the General Secretary of the BWA in respect of their role as BWA regional secretary.

- **FINANCES**

An annual application to the BWA for support of the work in the region may be submitted to the Executive Committee to be considered for inclusion in the General Budget of the BWA.

- **REPORTS**

Reports from each region will be given at least twice a year to the General Secretary for presentation to the General Council and the Executive Committee. The annual report should include membership statistics, notification of election results, progress of programs, reports of executive and council meetings and notification of future meetings.

ARTICLE IX

THE AUXILIARIES

1. The Executive Committee may, from time to time, authorize the establishment of auxiliaries of the BWA (hereinafter "Auxiliary"). The Auxiliaries currently authorized by the BWA include the following departments: men, women and youth.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

2. Each Auxiliary shall develop bylaws which will be approved by the Executive Committee. The bylaws of each Auxiliary shall define the relationship between the Auxiliary and the BWA, as well as related regional organizations.
3. An Auxiliary may elect a director upon recommendation of its own search committee and the General Secretary of the BWA. Each director shall be responsible to the Auxiliary for the administration of its affairs and to the General Secretary as a member of the staff of the BWA. Notwithstanding the provisions above, any Auxiliary staff employed by the BWA or whose salary is paid by the BWA in whole or in part, shall be appointed in accordance with and subject to the personnel policies and procedures of the BWA as approved by the Executive Committee. Such staff members will report directly to the General Secretary.
4. Officers of men, women, and youth work within a region shall be elected by members of the respective organizations and accepted by the regional body.

ARTICLE X

INDEMNIFICATION, INSURANCE & LIABILITY

1. INDEMNIFICATION

The BWA may, to the maximum extent allowed by law, indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, other than an action by or in the right of the BWA, by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director, committee member, officer, employee, or agent of the BWA, or is or was serving at the request of the BWA as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually incurred by him or her in connection with such action, suit, or process. The amount of such indemnity shall be as much as the Executive Committee or the court, if application has been made to it, determines and finds to be reasonable.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

2. INDEMNIFICATION EXCESS

The indemnity provided herein shall be in excess of all valid and collectible insurance or indemnity policies.

3. INSURANCE

The BWA shall purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any individual who is or was a director, committee member, officer, or employee, of the BWA, or who, while a director, committee member, officer, or employee of the BWA, is or was serving at the request of the BWA as a director, officer, partner, trustee, or employee of another foreign or domestic business or nonprofit corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise, against liability asserted against or incurred by him or her in that capacity or arising from his or her status as a director, committee member, officer, or employee, whether or not the BWA would have power to indemnify the person against the same liability under this Article of these Bylaws.

4. PERSONAL LIABILITY

Except as otherwise provided by law, no member of the Executive Committee or committees appointed by it, shall be personally liable, in his or her capacity as a committee member, for monetary damages for any action taken by such committee member or any failure by such committee member to take any action, unless the breach or failure to perform constitutes self-dealing, willful misconduct, or recklessness. This provision shall not apply to the responsibility or liability of a committee member pursuant to any criminal statute or the liability of a committee member for the payment of taxes pursuant to the laws applicable in the jurisdiction in which the BWA is registered.

ARTICLE XI

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

1. Each of the BWA's officers and Committee members (including the Executive Committee and committees appointed by it) (hereafter Committee members) shall act at all times in a manner that furthers the BWA's religious and charitable purposes and shall exercise care that he or she does not act in a manner that furthers his or her private interests to the detriment of the BWA's religious and charitable purposes. A conflict of interest can be considered to exist in any instance where the actions or activities of an individual on behalf of the BWA also involve the obtaining of a direct or indirect personal gain or



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

advantage, or an adverse or potentially adverse effect on the interests of the BWA. The BWA's officers and Committee members shall avoid conflicts of interest and otherwise fully disclose to the BWA any potential or actual conflicts of interest, if such conflicts cannot be avoided, so that such conflicts are dealt with in the best interests of the BWA.

2. The BWA and all of its officers and Committee members shall comply with any policies of the BWA regarding conflicts of interest, as well as all applicable legal requirements.

ARTICLE XII

RECORDS AND REPORTS

1. ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS

The BWA shall keep at its principal office a copy of its Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, as amended to date.

2. MAINTENANCE OF OTHER CORPORATE RECORDS

The BWA shall keep in written form correct and complete books and records of its accounts and shall also keep in written form minutes of the proceedings of the General Council, Executive Committee and any committees having any of the authority of the General Council or Executive Committee, and shall keep at the registered or principal office a record giving the names and addresses of the Executive Committee members.

3. CONFIDENTIALITY

Except as otherwise publicly disclosed, or in order to appropriately conduct the BWA's business, the records and reports of the BWA shall be held in confidence by those persons with access to them.

ARTICLE XIII

GENERAL PROVISIONS



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

1. FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the BWA shall end on 31 December each year.

2. FISCAL POLICIES

The BWA shall develop such fiscal policies and procedures which are necessary and appropriate to meet applicable regulatory and audit requirements, and which will promote financial transparency and accountability for the BWA. All fiscal policies and procedures shall be approved by the Executive Committee upon recommendation of the Budget and Finance Committee. Fiscal policies and procedures shall include, but not be limited to the following areas: signatory authority relating to checks, indebtedness, contract and other legal obligations; approval of financial institutions for BWA accounts; investments; spending and gifts.

ARTICLE XIV

AMENDMENTS

1. AMENDMENTS

- a. These Bylaws may be amended from time to time by the General Council, generally upon the recommendation of the Executive Committee as follows
- b. If written notice of the meeting at which the amendments are presented is given to every member of the General Council at least three months in advance, and a quorum is present, then an affirmative vote of a simple majority of members present and voting shall be required for adoption.
- c. If no advance written notice of the proposed bylaws amendments has been given, and a quorum is present, then an affirmative vote of a 4/5 majority of members present and voting shall be required for adoption.

2. REVIEW

The Bylaws will be periodically reviewed every five years during the second year of the Quinquennium.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

BWA CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR COVENANT 2020-2025

BWA Mission

Thank you! Thank you for your service and long-standing testimony of positive engagement within the Baptist family. Your service is deeply appreciated, and your leadership will help significantly shape the ongoing development of the BWA as a global movement. It is an honor to partner with you.

Founded in 1905, the Baptist World Alliance currently has 249 member bodies in 126 countries and territories representing 47 million Baptists. The BWA is headquartered in Falls Church, Virginia, USA.

The mission statement of the BWA: Networking the Baptist Family to Impact the World for Christ.

We strategically give witness to our mission through five key ministry areas:

1. Strengthening Worship, Fellowship, and Unity – Centered in Jesus Christ and rooted in deep spiritual life, we strengthen our worldwide family through ongoing gatherings, pastoral presence, mutual friendships, and the cultivation of worship, fellowship and unity.
2. Leading in Mission and Evangelism – Compelled by the Great Commission, we lead with a passionate commitment to Gospel witness in every context and people group, foster multidirectional partnerships that connect individuals and churches, and encourage global mission and evangelism.
3. Responding with Aid, Relief, and Community Development – Challenged to generously love our neighbor, we respond to people in need, collaborate in times of crisis, network agencies, support sustainability and creation care, build capacity, empower local church engagement and resource aid, relief, and community development.
4. Defending Religious Freedom, Human Rights, and Justice – Committed to a biblical understanding of the image of God in every person, we defend an ethic of life, support religious freedom for all, stand in solidarity with the marginalized, advocate at every level, train and network proactively, and mobilize for religious freedom, human rights, and justice.
5. Advancing Theological Reflection and Transformational Leadership – Called to discipleship, we advance multicultural and multilingual training, empower next generation leaders, encourage meaningful dialogue and praxis, and engage in relevant theological reflection and transformational leadership.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

BWA ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

1. General Council – Generally composed of over 400 members who gather once a year during the BWA Annual Gathering, usually in July, as the broadest governing body within the BWA
2. Executive Committee – Generally composed of around 35 members who usually meet twice a year, during the March Executive Committee and the July Annual Gathering, and are authorized by the General Council to consider the majority of the structural and operational needs of the BWA
3. President – Volunteer non-renewable position held for 5 years, chairs General Council and Executive Committee meetings, works closely to support the General Secretary as a global BWA ambassador
4. General Secretary and CEO – Primary strategic and operational full-time officer of BWA responsible for vision, strategy, budget, staff, programs, and fundraising; reaffirmed every 5 years with no term limits
5. Vice Presidents – Provide ambassadorial support, regional representation, and assist in overall mission of BWA; currently 12 with a motion to expand the number to 15, eligible for one term
6. First Vice President – One VP nominated by Nominations Committee and affirmed by General Council, in addition to VP responsibilities, the First VP works closely with the President and General Secretary and serves as chair in the absence of the President
7. Treasurer – BWA officer who generally lives in the geographic vicinity of the BWA, works closely with the General Secretary and appropriate BWA staff in ensuring development and implementation of the budget, chairs the Budget and Finance Committee, eligible to serve multiple terms
8. BWA Staff – A small team responsible for implementing programs in each of the five ministry areas, the majority live in the Falls Church, Virginia, USA area with several working remotely
9. Regional Secretaries – Six BWA regions led by their own General Secretary / Regional Secretary; primarily funded by and accountable to the region: All Africa Baptist Fellowship (AABF), Asia Pacific Baptist Federation (APBF), Caribbean Baptist Fellowship (CBF), European Baptist Federation (EBF), North American Baptist Fellowship (NABF), and Union of Baptists in Latin America (UBLA)
10. Committees – There are multiple standing committees of the BWA that engage in internal operations such as Audit, Human Resources, and Constitution and Bylaws



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

11. Commissions – In the 2020-2025 Quinquennium, there are 14 Commissions each with a Chair and Vice Chair addressing today’s most relevant issues in each of BWA’s five ministry areas; over 400 volunteer Baptist leaders serve on the various Commissions
12. Additional Teams and Partnerships – The BWA has 6 volunteers at the United Nations in Europe and in New York, USA. As needed to help implement BWA ministry areas, additional partnerships are formed, and as relevant, additional teams are called together to address specific areas such as dialogues with other Christian Worldwide Communions.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

BWA MINISTRY AND PROGRAM STRUCTURE

Five ministry areas strategically giving witness to the BWA mission: “Networking the Baptist Family to Impact the World for Christ”

1. Strengthening Worship, Fellowship, and Unity

Ministry Description:

Centered in Jesus Christ and rooted in deep spiritual life, we strengthen our worldwide family through ongoing gatherings, pastoral presence, mutual friendships, and the cultivation of worship, fellowship and unity.

BWA Team Ministry Leaders:

Julie Justus, Director of Global Partnerships and Unity, julie@baptistworld.org

Carolina Mangieri, Director of Global Events and Fellowship, carolina@baptistworld.org

Merritt Johnston, Director of Communications and Media, merritt@baptistworld.org

Primary Ministry Programs:

- Prayer, including weekly “One in Prayer” email that provides a guide to pray for every country in the world over the course of the year
- Member Body Relationships and Ministry Engagement
- Annual Gathering and Congress
- Additional events and fellowship opportunities
- Relevant Commissions

2. Leading in Mission and Evangelism

Ministry Description:

Compelled by the Great Commission, we lead with a passionate commitment to Gospel witness in every context and people group, foster multidirectional partnerships that connect individuals and churches, and encourage global mission and evangelism.

BWA Team Ministry Leader:

Everton Jackson, Director of Integral Mission, everton@baptistworld.org



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Primary Ministry Programs:

- Baptist Fund for World Evangelism and Mission (BFWED) Grants, grants usually with a maximum amount of \$2,000 USD to empower Baptist conventions, unions, and churches to engage in evangelistic ministry in their area
- BWA Kowloon International Baptist Church Evangelism Award, presented at each Congress to recognize a Baptist congregation effectively uniting evangelism and discipleship and actively engaged in innovative approaches to sharing the Gospel in culturally appropriate ways
- In process: establishment of a BWA Missions Network and enhanced mission partnership opportunities
- Relevant Commissions

3. Responding with Aid, Relief, and Community Development

Ministry Description:

Challenged to generously love our neighbor, we respond to people in need, collaborate in times of crisis, network agencies, support sustainability and creation care, build capacity, empower local church engagement and resource aid, relief, and community development.

BWA Team Ministry Leaders:

Interim BWAid Director: Elijah Brown, General Secretary, elijah@baptistworld.org with support from Kendra Eastman, Accountant, kendra@baptistworld.org

BFAD Facilitator: Rachel Conway-Doel, BFAD Facilitator, rachel@baptistworld.org

Primary Ministry Program:

- BWAid has been providing grants for more than 100 years to empower Baptist conventions, unions, and churches to provide holistic Gospel witness by responding with aid, relief, and community development in their area
- BWA Forum for Aid and Development (BFAD), a network of more than 30 Baptist aid agencies and professionals collaboratively working together for global impact
- Relevant Commissions



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

4. Defending Religious Freedom, Human Rights, and Justice

Ministry Description:

Committed to a biblical understanding of the image of God in every person, we defend an ethic of life, support religious freedom for all, stand in solidarity with the marginalized, advocate at every level, train and network proactively, and mobilize for religious freedom, human rights, and justice.

BWA Team Ministry Leaders:

21Wilberforce Global Freedom Center of the BWA, President: Randel Everett, randel@21wilberforce.org

Everton Jackson, Director of Integral Mission, everton@baptistworld.org

Primary Ministry Program:

- Advance religious freedom awareness, training, support and advocacy through the initiatives of the 21Wilberforce Global Freedom Center of the BWA
- United Nations Advocacy, supported by 6 BWA volunteers in Europe and in New York, USA
- Denton and Janice Lotz Human Rights Award, presented at each BWA Annual Gathering to recognize an individual for significant and effective efforts to secure, protect, restore, or preserve human rights as they are stated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights or in other declarations on human rights
- Congress Quinquennial Human Rights Award, presented at each BWA Congress to recognize an individual for a lifetime of significant and effective efforts to secure, protect, restore, or preserve human rights as they are stated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights or in other declarations on human rights
- Relevant Commissions

5. Advancing Theological Reflection and Transformational Leadership

Ministry Description:



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Called to discipleship, we advance multicultural and multilingual training, empower next generation leaders, encourage meaningful dialogue and praxis, and engage in relevant theological reflection and transformational leadership.

BWA Team Ministry Leaders:

Everton Jackson, Director of Integral Mission, everton@baptistworld.org

Jeff Carter, Director of Horizons, jeff@baptistworld.org

Primary Ministry Program:

- Maintaining relationships and engaging with Christian denominations, bodies, and broader activities
- Dialogues with other Christian Worldwide Communions
- Baptist International Conference on Theological Education (BICTE), held once each quinquennium with a focus on drawing together Baptist theologians and theological educators around a specified theme
- Horizons, a free online training program with 24 online modules that pairs students with a trained mentor for a certificate in children/youth ministry; program has been translated in 12 languages and focuses on areas of the world where theological education is less available
- Relevant Commissions

6. Additional Areas of Engagement

BWAW Women (BWAW):

Led by Interim Executive Director: Moreen Sharp, moreen.bwawomen@gmail.com

BWA Women maintain an active ministry with seven global regions each led by a President to help mobilize and equip women for a wide variety of ministry and service

BWA Youth:

Led by BWA Youth President: Amanda Haines (alhaines22@gmail.com)

BWA Youth maintain an active ministry with six global regions each led by a President to help mobilize and equip youth for a wide variety of ministry and service



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

BWA Men:

Led by BWA Men's President: Ayoola Ayodele Badejo (ayobadejo@hotmail.com)

BWA Men maintain an active ministry to help mobilize and equip men for a wide variety of ministry and service

7. Regional Engagement

BWA partners with General Secretaries in each of the six Regions of the BWA to further strengthen relationships and cultivate ministry that is always both local and global

All Africa Baptist Fellowship (AABF)

Duro Ayanrinola, General Secretary, aabfgs@gmail.com

Website: www.aabfellowship.org

Asia Pacific Baptist Federation (APBF)

Vesekhoyi Tetseo, General Secretary, veetetseo@gmail.com

Website: www.apbf.org

Caribbean Baptist Fellowship (CBF)

Everton Jackson, Executive Secretary and Treasurer, cbfest0@gmail.com

Website: www.caribbeanbaptistfellowship.com

European Baptist Federation (EBF)

Tony Peck, General Secretary, gensec@ebf.org

Website: www.ebf.org

North American Baptist Fellowship (NABF)

Jeremy Bell, General Secretary, jeremy@jeremybell.com

Website: www.nabfellowship.org

Union of Baptists in Latin America (UBLA)

Parish Jacome, Executive Director, pjacomeh@hotmail.com

Website: www.ubla.net



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

COMMISSION DESCRIPTIONS

The mission of the Baptist World Alliance (BWA) is to “Network the Baptist Family to Impact the World for Christ” in the following five ministry areas:

- Worship, Fellowship, and Unity
- Mission and Evangelism
- Aid, Relief, and Community Development
- Religious Freedom, Human Rights, and Justice
- Theological Reflection and Transformational Leadership

Each ministry area establishes a network comprised of multiple commissions to help the BWA engage with the worldwide BWA family in deeper reflection and action. Each commission is expected to outline and implement specific collaborative plans in order to further equip the ministry of the BWA and BWA member bodies, churches, and individuals. Resulting projects may include – but are not limited to – prayer resources, sermon starters, researched reports or white papers, dialogues, and direct advocacy.

1. WORSHIP, FELLOWSHIP, AND UNITY NETWORK

Centered in Jesus Christ and rooted in deep spiritual life, we strengthen our worldwide family through ongoing gatherings; pastoral presence; mutual friendships; and the cultivation of worship, fellowship, and unity.

Commission on Baptist Doctrine and Christian Unity – This commission identifies, reflects on, and clarifies issues of doctrine important to Baptists. It shares in theological conversations between the BWA and other Christian communities in furtherance of Jesus’ prayer for the unity of the church. It participates in programs to improve inter-church understanding and cooperation, especially in relation to Christian World Communions, and makes findings available to the BWA family. It analyzes the causes of disunity among Baptists and promotes ways to overcome this disunity.

Commission on Baptist Heritage and Identity – This commission seeks to clarify issues pertaining to the heritage and identity of the Baptist family with a view to furthering the local congregation’s understanding of its place and calling in the mission of God, in the culture, and in the worldwide Baptist movement. It records the story of God’s dealings among Baptists around the world and



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

produces materials for use by Baptists and others who are interested in understanding Baptist identity.

Commission on Baptist Worship and Spirituality – This commission reflects on the understanding and practice of worship and spirituality among Baptists to encourage corporate responses to God’s gracious care and promote habits conducive to healthy Christian formation. It develops and identifies materials for use by Baptists in their daily walk with God. It helps establish prayerful worship during BWA Annual Gatherings, as well as for use in broader corporate worship within the Baptist community.

2. MISSION AND EVANGELISM NETWORK

Compelled by the Great Commission, we lead with a passionate commitment to Gospel witness in every context and people group, foster multidirectional partnerships that connect individuals and churches, and encourage global mission and evangelism.

Commission on Evangelism – This commission provides biblical and theological reflection on the church’s calling to share the Gospel of salvation through Jesus Christ alone and live out its impact in our lives. It assists churches in affirming and fulfilling their vocation of disciple-making by clarifying the biblical mandate, along with promoting and implementing strategies for world evangelization. It identifies and develops resources and initiatives that help member bodies, churches, and individuals engage directly in evangelism or within multidirectional partnerships.

Commission on Mission – This commission nurtures a passionate commitment to Gospel witness within the BWA and among Baptists worldwide. It identifies, discusses, and shares available analysis of the ever-deepening understandings of the mission of the church in the world today in obedience to the Word of God. It assists the BWA and Baptists worldwide in embracing partnerships for mission, including in church planting and disciple-making, within every context and among every people group.

3. AID, RELIEF, AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT NETWORK

Challenged to generously love our neighbor, we respond to people in need; collaborate in times of crisis; network agencies; support sustainability and creation care; build capacity; empower local church engagement; and resource aid, relief, and community development.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Commission on Baptist World Aid – This commission reflects on the biblical command to love our neighbors generously and holistically with an understanding of contemporary practices of empowerment, development, and sustainability. It assists Baptist World Aid in the commitment to engage collaboratively and proactively. It works to strengthen Baptist churches and individuals by developing resources, best practices, and initiatives that deepen humanitarian responses that are partnership-oriented, prayerful, biblical, holistic, and sustainable.

Commission on Creation Care – This commission provides biblical and theological reflection on how Christians may live responsibly in the world, relating to the whole of life as part of God’s continuous work of creation and sustenance. It provides information on issues of environmental degradation, offering a theological framework to advance creation care and a biblical mandate of human stewardship of the earth. It provides Baptists with resources for use in congregational worship, personal practices, and the exploration of experiments in sustainable development.

Commission on Racial, Gender, and Economic Justice – This commission deepens awareness of the biblical portrait of equal dignity among all people, as well as the individual and corporate sin that maligns this reality. It provides biblical and theological reflection designed to identify and confront all forms of racism, sexism, and economic injustice in the church and beyond. It engages in research; develops resources; and challenges Baptists to work for racial and gender justice, ethnic reconciliation, and human flourishing, especially in local communities.

4. RELIGIOUS FREEDOM, HUMAN RIGHTS, AND JUSTICE NETWORK

Committed to a biblical understanding of the image of God in every person, we defend an ethic of life; support religious freedom for all; stand in solidarity with the marginalized; advocate at every level; train and network proactively; and mobilize for religious freedom, human rights, and justice.

Commission on Christian Ethics – This commission identifies and reflects on issues of personal and social morality with a view of furthering practical Christian discipleship in both the church and the world. It helps develop BWA resources and white papers on critical issues, designs resources for congregational study within the Baptist family, and equips individuals to live with prophetic biblical witness today in both word and deed.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Commission on Religious Freedom – This commission resources BWA Baptists in their advocacy for the advancement of religious freedom for people of all faiths or no faith, especially Baptists who experience or are threatened by persecution. It develops theological resources, provides information on issues of religious freedom, prepares reports and research papers, assists the BWA in direct advocacy, and empowers through training and mobilizing greater engagement on behalf of religious freedom.

Commission on Human Rights, Peacebuilding, and Reconciliation – This commission explores how the BWA and BWA Baptists can further human rights broadly and peace and reconciliation specifically. It monitors situations; assists Baptist victims of violence or oppression; raises awareness of human rights abuses; and mediates when Baptists are involved in conflict, either with each other or with others. It reflects theologically; networks; engages alongside the work of the BWA, particularly at the United Nations; and resources Baptists at local, national, and international levels.

5. THEOLOGICAL REFLECTION AND LEADERSHIP FORMATION NETWORK

Called to discipleship, we advance multicultural and multilingual training, empower next generation leaders, encourage meaningful dialogue and praxis, and engage in relevant theological reflection and transformational leadership.

Commission on Interfaith Relations – This commission reflects on interfaith relations in order to foster mutual respect and to promote the common welfare of Baptists and their neighbors of other religions. It probes the mandate to evangelize while also living as persons of peace. It seeks to increase mutual understanding and interaction between people of different religious communities. It suggests ways to diffuse violence and conflict rooted in religious ideology or language. It develops toolkits, resources Baptists worldwide, and participates in appropriate interfaith conversations and relationship-building endeavors.

Commission on Theological Education – This commission works to advance theological education among Baptists. It considers a wide range of endeavors, including theological education within local churches, certificate programs, nonaccredited initiatives, distance learning, online opportunities, and formal accredited programs. It engages in reflection, analyzes Baptist methodologies, and promotes strategies that lead to sound ministerial formation among



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

Baptists worldwide. It proactively works alongside BWA initiatives and helps advance quality theological education, especially in countries and communities where it is least available.

Commission on Transformational Leadership – This commission advances leadership formation among Baptists. It nurtures effective congregational ministry built upon Christian education and leadership for both ordained and lay church members. It promotes biblical and practical strategies that lead to faithful Christian discipleship, leadership, and ministry within and beyond the local church. It deepens understanding of a calling to whole-life discipleship and Christian leadership in church, business, government, education, and social sectors. It enhances initiatives to cultivate global Baptist leadership and to invest in emerging leaders.



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

COMMISSION ORIENTATION SCHEDULE, 2020 – 2025

- 1. October 26 – 30 - Worship, Fellowship and Unity Network**
 - ✓ October 26 – Commission on Baptist Doctrine and Christian Unity
 - ✓ October 28 - Commission on Baptist Heritage and Identity
 - ✓ October 30 - Commission on Baptist Worship and Spirituality

- 2. November 9 – 10 - Mission and Evangelism Network**
 - ✓ November 9 - Commission on Evangelism
 - ✓ November 10 - Commission on Mission

- 3. November 16 – 19 - Aid, Relief and Community Development Network**
 - ✓ November 16 - Commission on Baptist World Aid
 - ✓ November 17 - Commission on Creation Care
 - ✓ November 19 - Commission on Racial, Gender and Economic Justice

- 4. November 23 – 25 - Religious Freedom, Human Rights and Justice Network**
 - ✓ November 23 - Commission on Christian Ethics
 - ✓ November 24 - Commission on Religious Freedom
 - ✓ November 25 - Commission on Human Rights, Peacebuilding and Reconciliation

- 5. December 3 – 8 - Theological Reflection and Leadership Formation Network**
 - ✓ December 3 - Commission on Transformational Leadership
 - ✓ December 7 - Commission on Interfaith Relations
 - ✓ December 8 - Commission on Theological Education



NETWORKING THE BAPTIST FAMILY TO IMPACT THE WORLD FOR CHRIST

COMMUNICATION RESOURCES

BRANDING

BWA Logo Access: baptistworld.org/press-kit/

WEBSITE

BaptistWorld.org

SOCIAL MEDIA

Invite people to follow us online on social media.

Facebook: facebook.com/BaptistWorld

Twitter: twitter.com/BaptistWorld

Instagram: instagram.com/BaptistWorld

YouTube: youtube.com/BaptistWorldAlliance

EMAIL

Invite people to sign up for BWA Emails, including our weekly “One in Prayer” email:
bit.ly/BWAEmail